

# DECARBONIZATION POTENTIAL OF ELECTROFUELS IN THE EUROPEAN UNION

Stephanie Searle and Adam Christensen



www.theicct.org communications@theicct.org

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Searle is with the International Council on Clean Transportation and Christensen is with the Three Seas Initiative. This work was generously supported by the European Climate Foundation. Thanks to Nikita Pavlenko, Jacopo Giuntoli, Nic Lutsey, Peter Mock, Chris Malins and Laura Buffet for helpful reviews and input.

International Council on Clean Transportation 1225 I Street NW Suite 900 Washington, DC 20005 USA

 $communications @theicct.org \mid www.theicct.org \mid @TheICCT$ 

 $\ensuremath{\textcircled{\sc c}}$  2018 International Council on Clean Transportation

# EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Many European Union (EU) stakeholders expect electrofuels to have a prominent role in the EU's energy future. Also known as "power-to-liquids," "power-to-gas," "e-fuels" and "e-gas," electrofuels can deliver greenhouse gas (GHG) savings compared to petroleum when they are produced using low-carbon electricity. These alternative fuels are increasingly cited as a promising solution for achieving decarbonization of the transport sector because they can be used in internal combustion engines and, unlike most types of biofuels, have low land use impacts. Electrofuels will be incentivized by the recast Renewable Energy Directive (RED II) for 2021-2030 and automaker associations and other stakeholders are advocating for the GHG savings from electrofuels to also count toward vehicle CO<sub>2</sub> standards.

In a prior study (Christensen & Petrenko, 2017), we assessed the economics and GHG performance of electrofuel facilities in EU Member States from the present to 2040. This paper represents an update to that study, focusing on 2030 and introducing a number of changes to improve the relevance of this work for ongoing policy analysis. Our updated economic analysis for electrofuels uses a new, transparent renewable electricity price forecast for all EU Member States. We add a gaseous electrofuels pathway and assess its competitiveness with fossil gas, as well as explore the economics of using direct air capture to supply  $CO_2$  to electrofuel producers instead of industrial point sources. We analyze how the accounting of electrofuels in the final RED II impacts the GHG performance of these fuels and provide policy recommendations for maximizing their climate benefits.

The net climate impact of electrofuels in the EU depends heavily on how they are counted toward the RED II targets. The RED II specifies that the energy content of the renewable electricity input to the electrofuels production process, not the energy content of the final fuel, is counted toward the 32% renewable energy target. Because the conversion efficiency of electrofuels is, at best, around 50%, the RED II effectively counts twice as much energy toward the renewable energy target as the amount of fossil fuels displaced, which is similar to the double counting of waste-based biofuels toward the renewable energy in transport target in the 2020 Renewable Energy Directive. If the 32% renewable energy sources (RES) target in the RED II is only just met (and not exceeded), any production of electrofuels would thus result in a corresponding shortfall in total renewable energy usage in the EU and thus an increase in fossil fuel use. We explore the direct and indirect GHG emission impacts of electrofuels in five scenarios. Scenario 1 represents electrofuel producers with a direct, off-grid connection to renewable electricity installations, and the RES target would be just met in Scenario 1A and exceeded in Scenario 1B. In Scenario 2, electrofuel producers import electricity from the grid, using guarantees of origin (GoOs) to demonstrate the electricity is renewable, and the RES target would be just met in Scenario 2A and exceeded in Scenario 2B. Scenario 2C is identical to Scenario 2A, but electrofuels count toward the renewable energy target on the basis of finished fuel, similar to other transport fuels.

Our findings largely echo those of our previous study: Electrofuels will deliver limited—if any—renewable fuel volumes and GHG reductions in the EU in the 2030 time frame. We find that very high policy support of 2.5 or 3 euros per diesel equivalent liter would be needed to deliver significant volumes of electrofuels. No electrofuels could be produced economically in the EU with less than 1.50 euros policy support. Even at 3 euros per liter policy support, electrofuels would only offset at most around 0.4% of total EU road transport fuel demand in 2030. Grid-connected electrofuel facilities demonstrating renewable electricity consumption through GoOs are more competitive than facilities directly connected to new renewable electricity installations because they can operate at full production capacity a greater proportion of the time. Gaseous electrofuels in particular are not competitive due to low fossil gas prices; furthermore, using direct air capture  $CO_2$  substantially worsens electrofuel economics. Significant volumes of electrofuels could potentially be produced in the 2040–2050 time frame if very high policy support were to be maintained.

The potential net climate impact of electrofuels is shown in Figure ES-1. Only in a scenario where electrofuels count toward the 32% renewable energy target on the basis of fuel produced rather than input electricity (Scenario 2C) can electrofuels deliver a significant level of GHG reductions, up to 4 million tonnes  $CO_2e$  annually by 2030. Even in that case, very high policy support would be needed to achieve those production volumes, which would still only offset 0.5% of projected road transport GHG emissions in 2030 in the EU. The 3 euros per liter policy support necessary to drive significant deployment is roughly equivalent to 1,200 euros per tonne  $CO_2e$  abated in this best-case scenario. If electrofuels were allowed to count toward vehicle  $CO_2$  standards, this strategy of emission reductions would cost 300 euros for each gram  $CO_2$  reduction per kilometer. In all other scenarios, we find that electrofuels would not deliver significant GHG reductions.



**Figure ES-1:** Potential GHG reductions in million tonnes  $CO_2e/year$  (left axis) and as a share of road transport emissions (right axis) from electrofuels in 2030 in the EU by policy scenario and level of policy support.

Policymakers can make RED II implementation decisions to ensure that electrofuels deliver real GHG reductions. One promising option is to require electrofuel producers to submit GOplus certificates that could demonstrate that the renewable electricity used, whether through a grid connection or a direct connection, has not been directly counted toward the RED II renewable energy target. Such a requirement could be introduced on the basis of excluding electrofuel pathways with high life-cycle GHG emissions, if GOplus certificates are not obtained, or if Member States interpret the RED II accounting clause to mean that the amount of energy in fuel should count toward the renewable energy target. Alternatively, Member States could take measures to exceed the renewable energy target by approximately the same amount as the volume of electrofuels reported.

Another key recommendation is not to allow electrofuels to count toward vehicle CO<sub>2</sub> standards in the EU. Counting the same fuel toward both policies would effectively reduce the stringency of the vehicle standards without delivering additional climate benefits. If measures are taken to ensure that GHG reductions from electrofuels are additional, these fuels can make a modest contribution toward the EU's renewable energy and decarbonization goals.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction1
Assessment of potential electrofuel volumes to 2030
Methods
Results on electrofuel potential in 20309
Climate performance of electrofuels13
Emissions accounting in the recast Renewable Energy Directive (RED II)13
Scenarios for GHG assessment15
Methodology for life-cycle greenhouse gas assessment15
Results on greenhouse gas impacts17
Policy recommendations21
Conclusions22
References23
Appendix27
Electrofuel potential results for 2040 and 205027
Renewable electricity prices

## INTRODUCTION

Electrofuels are of increasing interest in Europe as a transport decarbonization strategy because they can be produced from clean renewable energy, do not have significant land use impacts, and some types can be used at high blend levels in existing vehicles and fueling infrastructure. These fuels, also known as power-to-liquids, power-to-gas, e-fuels, e-gas, air-to-fuels, and  $CO_2$ -based synthetic fuels, are produced by reacting hydrogen from electrolysis with  $CO_2$  in a synthesis reactor to form liquid or gaseous hydrocarbons or alcohols. Electrofuels produced from renewable electricity such as wind or solar power are clearly eligible to count toward the fuel supplier obligation for 14% renewable energy in transport by 2030 in the recast Renewable Energy Directive (RED II; European Union, 2018). The RED II includes a category for "renewable liquid and gaseous transport fuels of non-biological origin" and electrofuels are likely the main potential type of fuel in this class.

Automakers have been highlighting the potential for electrofuels and other low-carbon fuels to contribute to GHG emission reductions in the transport sector, alongside electric vehicles and efficiency improvements. For example, Audi has invested in a gaseous electrofuel production facility in Germany with plans to offset CNG fuel consumption in Audi gas vehicles by injecting gaseous electrofuel into the gas grid (Audi, 2015). Some automaker associations suggest counting the climate benefits from electrofuels toward automaker CO, targets. The European Automobile Manufacturers Association has called on the European Commission to explore "setting enabling conditions for alternative fuels-such as gas, biofuels, synthetic fuels, power-to-X technology, electricity, etc.-by exploring the potential benefits of a well-to-wheel approach" (European Automobile Manufacturers Association [ACEA], 2017). Similarly, the Natural & bio Gas Vehicle Association (NGVA Europe, 2017) has stated that it "regrets to see that the European Commission did not take the opportunity to embrace a more comprehensive approach with regard to carbon neutrality, directly considering the role of renewable gas solutions." The ART Fuels Forum, a Commission-organized expert group largely consisting of industry representatives, published a position paper advocating for the GHG reductions from low-carbon fuels to be accounted for in passenger vehicle CO, standards (2018).

Low-carbon fuels, including renewable electrofuels, can deliver meaningful contributions to decarbonizing transport alongside other strategies. In an earlier study (Christensen & Petrenko, 2017), we concluded that the climate benefits of renewable electrofuels would be eliminated if the GHG reductions attributable to them were counted toward multiple policy targets. For low-carbon fuels to deliver the intended GHG reductions of decarbonization policies, it is necessary to ensure that any particular quantity of fuel is counted toward only one target. If low-carbon fuels are counted toward vehicle CO<sub>2</sub> standards, they should not also count toward the fuel supplier obligation in the RED II.

Even if double counting of climate benefits from electrofuels does not occur, it is still not clear that these fuels can make a significant contribution toward reducing emissions from the vehicle sector as a whole. In Christensen and Petrenko (2017), we found that a maximum of 413 million liters of liquid electrofuels could be produced annually in the EU by 2030, contributing up to 0.15% of total EU road fuel consumption.

Christensen and Petrenko (2017) provided first estimates of electrofuel potential in EU Member States through 2040. The present study serves as an update to Christensen and Petrenko (2017). Similar to our earlier study, we present projections of electrofuel potential in the EU at varying levels of policy support based on a financial analysis and deployment model, and assess the life-cycle GHG performance of electrofuels in a variety of policy scenarios, accounting for emissions from indirect impacts of electrofuel production on grid operation and renewable energy consumption elsewhere.

We introduce several additions to our earlier work in this study. We add a gaseous electrofuel pathway and separately project potential future volumes of gaseous and liquid electrofuels. In our 2017 study, we found that the cost and potential deployment of electrofuels depend heavily on the price of input renewable electricity. Here, we make new, independent projections of renewable electricity prices and use these to more reliably estimate the total cost of electrofuels using CO<sub>2</sub> from direct air capture instead of industrial point sources. This study updates our conclusions on the GHG performance and overall potential contribution of renewable electrofuels to transport decarbonisation in the EU in 2030. Lastly, we make specific recommendations for EU Member States on accounting of GHG savings from electrofuels in RED II implementation.

The appendix provides rough projections of electrofuel potential over an extended time frame from 2041-2050.

# ASSESSMENT OF POTENTIAL ELECTROFUEL VOLUMES TO 2030

This section presents our assessment of liquid and gaseous electrofuel volumes that could potentially be economically produced in 2030. We describe the methodology used in this assessment, followed by the results. As in Christensen and Petrenko (2017), we project electrofuel volumes in each EU Member State and sum the results for the EU. We project potential electrofuel volumes with varying levels of policy support from 1.50–3.00 euros per liter diesel equivalent. Policy support can include incentives for renewable electricity generally as well as incentives for low-carbon fuels. The incentive levels assumed here are meant to represent the total sum of applicable incentives available in any particular EU Member State.

## **METHODS**

Electrofuel production combines two main processes: electrolysis and fuel synthesis. In electrolysis, electricity is used to split water molecules into hydrogen and oxygen. Fuel synthesis converts these products and CO<sub>2</sub> into finished fuels (alcohols or hydrocarbons). There are multiple types of both electrolyzers and fuel synthesis units, and this assessment considers the combinations of several of each. We include alkaline water electrolyzers, proton exchange membrane (PEM) electrolyzer cells, and two variants of solid-oxide electrolyzer cells (SOECs), specifically steam and co-electrolysis. Fuel synthesis technologies included here are Fischer-Tropsch (producing drop-in diesel and gasoline), dimethyl ether (DME) synthesis, methanol synthesis to drop-in diesel and gasoline, and methanation to produce gaseous methane. Further details of these technologies are provided in Christensen and Petrenko (2017).

The production potential of electrofuels is constrained by cost and deployment rate for the foreseeable future. Some electrofuel production technologies are fairly mature and technologically ready for deployment at present. This assessment thus combines a financial model and a deployment model and does not consider technological limitations.

### Financial model and capital costs

The costs covered in this assessment include capital costs, operations and maintenance, electrolyzer replacements, country-specific corporate taxes, depreciation, electricity input,  $CO_2$  input, and policy support. The production costs are modeled in terms of energy content for liquid and gaseous electrofuels, then compared with projected diesel and gas prices, respectively.

We build a cashflow model of an electrofuel plant to calculate the net present value (NPV) and the internal rate of return (IRR). We assume that an economically viable facility must have a positive NPV and an IRR of at least 15%. Table 1 lists other key economic parameters used in this analysis.

Table 1.	Fundamental	economic	parameters	used in	n electrofuel	financial	model

Parameter	Value	Reference
Real Discount Rate	7%	Estimated from the Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC) from NREL Annual Technology Baseline Data (National Renewable Energy Laboratory [NREL], n.d.)
Plant Lifetime	30 years (no salvage value)	Brynolf, Taljegard, Grahn,& Hansson (2017)
Construction Time	2 years (75% initial capital in year 1, 25% in year 2)	
Depreciation Rate	Straight line	
Depreciation Rate	5%	
Operations & Maintenance	2% of initial capital costs/year	Brynolf et al., 2017; Giglio et al. 2015

Following Christensen and Petrenko (2017), we assume capital costs decline over time and with increasing facility size (i.e., economies of scale). Assumptions on capital costs and electrolyzer replacement costs and references for most technology pathways are provided in Christensen and Petrenko (2017). For methanation, we assume capital costs are 1.71 million euros and the capacity is 5 MW<sub>e</sub> (Brynolf et al., 2017; Götz et al., 2016; Grond, Schulze, & Holstein, 2013; Hannula, 2015; de Bucy, 2016; McDonagh, O'Shea, Wall, Deane, & Murphy, 2018). Electrolyzer and fuel synthesis efficiencies for most pathways are given in Christensen and Petrenko (2017). For methanation, we assumed a fuel synthesis efficiency of 77% (Grond et al., 2013; Brynolf et al., 2017; Mohseni, 2012; Schiebahn et al., 2015; Sterner, 2009; Schiebahn et al. 2013; Tremel, Wasserscheid, Baldauf, & Hammer, 2015; de Bucy 2016).

#### **Electricity prices**

Electricity is a major input in electrofuel synthesis. Changes in electricity prices have a large impact on electrofuel economics. This assessment covers electrofuel production using wind and solar electricity because the RED II incentivizes only renewable electrofuels.

We consider two scenarios for electricity supply to electrofuel facilities, with different input prices for each scenario:

- » Scenario 1: Direct connection to renewable electricity installations. The price of electricity input to electrofuel facilities is the Levelized Cost of Electricity (LCOE), including some taxes but not distribution and transmission fees, also known as grid fees. Because the electrofuel facility is assumed to not be grid-connected, we also assume the electrofuel plant operates at the capacity factor of the renewable generator.
- » Scenario 2: Import electricity from the grid. GoOs would be used to demonstrate that the imported electricity is renewable. Full taxes and grid fees apply. We assume electrofuel plants operate at full capacity with a capacity factor of 0.95.

In Christensen and Petrenko (2017) we used electricity price projections from Bloomberg New Energy Finance (BNEF) for Germany, scaled to other EU Member States by differences in solar and wind capacity. BNEF's projections implicitly included existing incentives for renewable electricity, which are currently substantial in Germany. Our analysis thus also implicitly included substantial renewable electricity incentives. In that study, we presented our results on electrofuel potential with varying levels of policy incentive that are additional to the incentives already included in BNEF's electricity price projections. Because we did not have enough information available to separate out the implied incentives in BNEF's prices, we were not able to analyze the total amount of policy incentives necessary for electrofuels to be cost viable.

In the present study, we address this problem by creating new renewable electricity price projections for EU Member States. The policy support levels may be interpreted as the total amount of support necessary to achieve various degrees of electrofuel penetration. We also aim to provide transparency by detailing our methodology for developing these projections.

We estimated electricity prices as the time series of LCOE for wind and solar systems in the EU from 2018-2080. Although the assessment here focuses on the 2030 time frame, in the Appendix we provide results to 2050. Because we assume electrofuel facilities to have a 30-year lifetime, it was necessary to project electricity prices through 2080. The LCOE is a measure of the average total cost to build and operate a generator over its lifetime divided by the total energy output over the lifetime of the plant. In other words, this measure reflects the minimum price necessary to sell energy to meet a certain IRR. We assume an after-tax IRR of 7% for solar and wind projects, consistent with fully commercialized technologies. The aggregated parameters used to calculate wind and solar electricity cash flows are described in Table 2; we take these from the National Renewable Energy Laboratory's Annual Technology Baseline database (NREL, n.d.). This database includes United States data, however, it is assumed that CAPEX rates for utility-scale solar/wind fluctuate on a global scale; as such, European rates will not differ significantly. It was assumed that the generator system had zero salvage value at the end-of-life and that accelerated depreciation (5-year) was calculated with a straight-line method.

Data Description	Solar	Wind
System Life	30 years	30 years
Fixed Operations and Maintenance Costs	11 \$/kW-year	50 \$/kW-year
Variable Operations and Maintenance Costs	0.002 \$/kWh	0 \$/kWh
Generator Performance Degradation	-1 % output/year	-0.5 % output/year
Inverter Replacement Cost	100 \$/kW (measured as DC output)	-
Inverter Lifetime	10 years	—
Gearbox Replacement Cost	—	15 % of CAPEX rate
Gearbox Lifetime	—	7 years
Blade Replacement Cost	—	20 % of CAPEX rate
Blade Lifetime	—	15 years
Number of Replacement Blades	-	1

Table 2. Parameters used to calculate the levelized cost of energy for solar and wind projects

Using the LCOE metric as a proxy for the actual generation price represents a balance between completeness and transparency. We implicitly assume that an electrofuel facility obtains electricity from a new wind or solar installation built in that same year. In reality, generation-only electricity prices are a more complicated function of transmission grid dynamics. However, a transparent model that considers the details of grid effects is not available. Figure 1 shows the EU average price trends for solar and wind electricity generation in our analysis. The decline in electricity prices for both technologies is due to an expected decline in CAPEX. Solar and wind generation costs, taxes, and grid fees are also presented in the Appendix. Our projections for wind and solar electricity generation prices are similar to those reported elsewhere (International Energy Agency, 2017).





We calculate taxes and grid fees in each EU Member State as follows. Electricity taxes for each Member State for 2015 are taken from Figure 7 in European Commission report (2016a). We subtracted the share of taxes that are designated for supporting renewable energy and combined heat and power, applying the EU-average share from Figure 5 to the Member State tax rate. This step was taken for consistency in separating out support for renewable electricity, and therefore electrofuels, from other costs. For Scenario 1, we assume 75% of current taxes apply; some Member States exempt self-consumers of renewable electricity installation, from a portion of taxes (GfK Belgium consortium, 2017). We did not attempt to estimate the proportion of tax reduction in each Member State because the tax treatment of self-consumers of renewable electricity across all Member States is currently changing on an annual basis.

We adjusted grid fees from the network costs shown in Figure 7 in European Commission (2016a) for each Member State. Grid fees are expected to increase in future years as variable renewable electricity penetration increases over time. Variable renewable electricity sources, namely wind and solar, tend to have greater forecast errors than other electricity sources such as coal, gas, and nuclear. This leads to greater balancing costs for increased use of spinning reserves and energy storage, such as batteries. In addition, solar and wind electricity can have higher transmission and distribution costs because these installations can be located further from the electricity grid than, for example, a new coal plant might be. To project the increase in grid fees from 2015 to 2080, we draw on an assessment of balancing, transmission, and distribution costs of increased variable renewable electricity penetration in Germany from Fursenweth, Pescia, and Litz (2015), assuming that the cost analysis performed for Germany in that study would apply similarly to other EU Member States. In reality, the situation is different in every Member State, but a similar type of analysis is not available for all Member States. The balancing and distribution costs for Germany from Fursenweth, Pescia, and Litz (2015) are similar to those projected for the EU in Pudjianto, Djapic, Dragovic, and Strbac (2013) and the Nuclear Energy Agency (2012).

Balancing costs are expected to rise slightly with increasing variable renewable electricity penetration, as more resources are required to correct for forecast errors when those errors apply to a larger share of total electricity generation. To account for this relationship, we relied on a regression between observed and modeled balancing costs and the share of wind power penetration from Figure 23 in Fursenweth, Pescia, and Litz (2015). We assumed the balancing costs from solar power to be half that of wind for all penetration rates, following a finding in Fursenweth, Pescia, and Litz (2015) that balancing costs for solar power are generally half that of wind and in the absence of a solar-specific regression analysis. To estimate balancing costs from this regression, we had to make assumptions on the wind and solar share to 2080. We took projections on EU-wide wind and solar share for 2020-2050 from Figure 38 in the European Commission trends report (2016b). We calculated the 2015 wind and solar share as the ratio of wind and solar electricity generation to total electricity consumption for each Member State from Eurostat (n.d.). We assumed that each Member State would increase its wind and solar penetration from 2015 through 2050 proportionally to its 2015 wind and solar electricity consumption so that on aggregate, Member States would reach the EU-average wind and solar shares in European Commission (2016b) for 2020-2050. We assumed that the increased rate of wind and solar penetration over the period 2040-2050 would continue linearly to 2080. After calculating the increase in balancing costs due to increased penetration of wind and solar separately, we summed these costs to calculate the total increase in balancing costs due to increasing total variable renewable electricity penetration in each Member State. We subtracted our estimated balancing costs for 2015 from the balancing costs for all years thereafter to identify the projected growth in balancing costs in future years.

We took per MWh distribution and transmission costs for solar and onshore wind from Figure 3 in Fursenweth, Pescia, and Litz (2015) and assumed that these costs would remain constant over time. We multiplied these costs by our projected share of wind and solar power in each Member State as described above. Similar to balancing costs, we subtracted our estimated transmission and distribution costs for 2015 from those for all years thereafter. Balancing, transmission, and distribution costs for variable renewable electricity in 2015 are already implicitly included in the network costs we took from the European Commission report (2016a). We thus needed to identify the growth in these costs from 2015 to 2050. We then add balancing, distribution, and transmission costs to 2015 network costs to estimate total grid fees in each year after 2015. We project that grid fees will increase slightly due to increasing renewable electricity penetration. These results are presented in the Appendix.

## CO<sub>2</sub> input costs

In addition to renewable electricity, a key input for electrofuel production is concentrated  $CO_2$ .  $CO_2$  generally comes from either point sources or direct air capture (DAC). Point sources of  $CO_2$  include flue gases from industrial processes, power plants, or other chemical processing facilities. DAC extracts  $CO_2$  from ambient air through an adsorption-desorption chemical process. Table 3 presents the harmonized capture cost from a number of techno-economic analyses.

Table 3. Costs for capture of CO<sub>2</sub> from different sources

CO <sub>2</sub> source	Capture cost	Year available	Units	Reference		
Natural gas power plant	21-64 10-64	2028-2033 2038+	2018 €/tCO <sub>2</sub> captured	Brynolf et al., 2017		
Coal power plant	32-180 10-110	2028-2033 2038+	2018 €/tCO <sub>2</sub> captured	Brynolf et al., 2017		
Petroleum refining/ petrochemical	64-150 32-95	2028-2033 2038+	2018 €/tCO <sub>2</sub> captured	Brynolf et al., 2017		
Cement industry	75-160 32-53	2028-2033 2038+	2018 €/tCO <sub>2</sub> captured	Brynolf et al., 2017		
Iron and steel	53-75 32-64	2028-033 2038+	2018 €/tCO <sub>2</sub> captured	Brynolf et al., 2017		
Ammonia production	<21 <21	2028-2033 2038+	2018 €/tCO <sub>2</sub> captured	Brynolf et al., 2017		
Bioethanol/biogas	<21 <21	2028-2033 2038+	2018 €/tCO <sub>2</sub> captured	Brynolf et al., 2017		
Biomass w/ carbon capture	55	-	2018 €/tCO <sub>2</sub> captured	Keith, Ha-Duong, and Stolaroff, 2006		
Direct air capture	140 – 2018 €/tCO <sub>2</sub> captured		2018 €/tCO <sub>2</sub> captured	Keith, Ha-Duong, and Stolaroff, 2006		
Direct air capture	53	_	2018 €/tCO <sub>2</sub> captured, but does not include regeneration costs of the sorbent	Holmes and Keith, 2012		
Direct air capture	re 90 – 2018 €/tCO₂ captured		2018 €/tCO <sub>2</sub> captured	Lackner, 2009		
Direct air capture	915	-	2018 €/tCO <sub>2</sub> avoided	House et al., 2011		
Direct air capture	<b>ir capture</b> "Estimates of \$100/tC (\$27/tCO <sub>2</sub> ) to \$500/tC (\$136/tCO <sub>2</sub> ) found in the literature for direct air capture are just not believable. Absent a technological breakthrough that departs from humankind's accumulated experience with dilute gas separation, direct air capture is unlikely to be a serious mitigation option until the price on CO <sub>2</sub> is measured in thousands of dollars per tonne of CO <sub>2</sub> ."					
Direct air capture	400-595	-	2018 €/tCO <sub>2</sub> captured, just the energy costs no capital recovery costs included	Ranjan, 2010		
Direct air capture	551-742	—	2018 €/tCO <sub>2</sub> avoided	Socolow et al., 2011		
Coal power plant	75	_	2018 €/tCO <sub>2</sub> avoided	Socolow et al., 2011		

There is a wide range of cost estimates for  $CO_2$  from both concentrated and dilute sources. Recognizing this, we use three different assumptions for the price of  $CO_2$  (1) 34 euros/t $CO_2$  (\$40/t  $CO_2$ ), representing capture from a point source, (2) 128 euros/t $CO_2$ (\$150/t  $CO_2$ ), representing an optimistic estimate of DAC costs, and (3) 513 euros/t $CO_2$ (\$600/t  $CO_2$ ), representing a central cost estimate for DAC. For the purposes of this analysis we assume that all three of these technologies would be available starting in 2018, which likely overestimates electrofuel potential using DAC in particular. We assume these costs (in constant 2018 euros) stay constant over time.

#### **Fuel sale prices**

We assume that electrofuels will be sold at the same wholesale price as fossil diesel and gas on an energy equivalent basis. We use the same assumptions and data sources for diesel price projections as in Christensen and Petrenko (2017). For gas, we took a wholesale methane price forecast for the EU from the World Bank (n.d.).

### Deployment model

We use the same deployment model described in Christensen and Petrenko (2017).

### **RESULTS ON ELECTROFUEL POTENTIAL IN 2030**

Projected electrofuel volumes in 2030 are shown in Figures 2-5. All results are presented in constant 2018 euros. Modest volumes of both liquid and gaseous electrofuel could be produced via direct connection to renewable electricity installations with point source CO, (Figure 2). Although we find that gaseous electrofuels have lower production costs, we project lower potential volumes for these fuels than liquid electrofuels because it is more difficult to compete with low-priced fossil gas. In almost all the scenarios and conditions we investigated, liquid electrofuels are more competitive than gaseous electrofuels, so we project higher potential volumes of liquids. We found that no electrofuels would be cost viable with combined policy support levels lower than 1.50 euros per liter diesel equivalent. This result contrasts with our findings in Christensen and Petrenko (2017), in which we projected that very modest potential electrofuel volumes could be viable with as little as 0.75 euros/L in some scenarios. The reason is that in Christensen and Petrenko (2017), we implicitly included substantial existing renewable electricity incentives that were additional to the 0.75 euros/L policy support by using renewable electricity price forecasts from BNEF. In the present analysis, each policy support level includes all incentives for renewable electricity as well as electrofuel production. Because electricity prices constitute most of the total production costs for electrofuels, the increase in our assumed renewable electricity prices has a large effect on the overall economics for these fuels. In this study we find that 3 euros per liter of policy support is necessary to support significant volumes of electrofuels. This finding supports a recent study commissioned by Verband der Automobilindustrie, which reported that electrofuels current cost around 3.20-3.60 euros per liter more than fossil diesel and petrol (Seigemund, Trommler, Schmidt, & Weindorf, 2017).





With direct connection, electrofuels produced using wind power are more competitive than using solar power. This is mainly because Sweden has a much higher capacity factor for wind than the capacity factor for solar in any country, and Sweden dominates the total wind-powered electrofuel potential in the EU. Much of the electrofuel potential using solar power comes from countries with relatively high solar capacity factors: Portugal, Spain, and Greece. Electrofuel potential is highest when the direct connection is to a hybrid renewable electricity installation combining wind and solar because the combination slightly increases the effective capacity factor of the electrofuel facility.

DAC of  $CO_2$  significantly increases the total production cost of electrofuels. Even with an optimistic DAC price, potential electrofuel volumes are significantly lower with DAC than when using point source  $CO_2$  (Figure 3). When we assume central DAC costs (in the middle of the range of estimates reported in the literature), almost no electrofuel potential is cost viable in the 2030 time frame.





Electrofuel potential is much higher in Scenario 2, where facilities are grid-connected and purchase GoOs to demonstrate that the electricity is generated from wind or solar power, than in Scenario 1 (Figure 4). Although grid-connected renewable electricity prices are higher than with direct connection because they include grid fees and full electricity taxes, this disadvantage is more than offset by the increased capacity factor of grid-connected electrofuel facilities. Grid-connected facilities can operate almost all the time, while facilities powered by direct connection to wind and solar installations are limited by the capacity factor of wind and solar at those locations. For example, the solar capacity factor of Portugal is 0.42, meaning that an electrofuel facility powered by direct connection in that country can only operate at 42% capacity. The increase in capacity factor of grid-connected electrofuel facilities compared to those powered by direct connection greatly improves their economics. Unlike in Scenario 1, electrofuel potential in Scenario 2 is highest when GoOs from solar facilities are purchased. This is because solar power costs per kilowatt hour are projected to decline faster than wind power costs by 2030 due to technological learning. And because grid-connected electrofuel facilities are not limited by the lower solar capacity factors, electrofuel producers can take full advantage of the lower solar power prices in this scenario.



**Figure 4.** Total EU electrofuel potential in 2030 in Scenario 2 (grid-connected) with point source CO<sub>2</sub> (million liters diesel equivalent).

Similar to Scenario 1, in Scenario 2 the higher cost of using DAC  $CO_2$  significantly reduces potential electrofuel volumes (Figure 5).



**Figure 5.** Total EU electrofuel potential in 2030 in Scenario 2 (grid-connected) with DAC  $CO_2$  (million liters diesel equivalent).

Electrofuels are unlikely to displace a substantial share of total road transport fuel in the 2030 time frame. Table 4 shows electrofuel potential from Figures 2 and 4 (using point source CO<sub>2</sub>) as a share of projected total road transport fuel from the EU Reference Scenario (European Commission, 2016b). In Table 4, the maximum total electrofuel potential represents the sum of liquid and gaseous fuels produced from hybrid electricity installations in Scenario 1 and the sum of liquid and gaseous fuels produced from solar power in Scenario 2. In Scenario 1 with direct connection to renewable electricity installations, the maximum electrofuel potential is less than 0.1%. Electrofuel potential in Scenario 2 is more significant, especially if solar GoOs are used, and could potentially displace around 0.4% of total road transport fuel in the EU. While this is still a very modest contribution, it represents around 3% of the renewable energy needed to meet the transport target in the RED II. In any case, our results strongly suggest that electrofuels are unlikely to make a significant contribution to the RED II transport target or to fossil fuel displacement in the transport sector more generally in the 2030 time

frame. The potential contribution from electrofuels would be even lower if  $\mathrm{CO}_{\rm 2}$  from DAC were used.

Table 4.	Total EU	J electrofuel	potential	as a	share	of pro	jected	total	road	transpo	ort fuel	in	2030	in
different	: scenario	os with point	t source C	$O_2$										

		Scen (direct co	ario 1 nnection)	Scenario 2 (grid-connected)			
		2.00 €/L	3.00 €/L	2.00 €/L	3.00 €/L		
	Solar	0.000%	0.006%	0.048%	0.312%		
Liquid	Wind	0.008%	0.019%	0.010%	0.045%		
	Hybrid	0.008%	0.021%	N/A	N/A		
	Solar	0.000%	0.001%	0.014%	0.046%		
Gaseous	Wind	0.006%	0.008%	0.006%	0.036%		
	Hybrid	0.005%	0.010%	N/A	N/A		
Maximum total potential in EU		0.013%	0.031%	0.061%	0.358%		

## CLIMATE PERFORMANCE OF ELECTROFUELS

Generally, electrofuels offer emission reductions if produced from low-carbon renewable electricity, but if produced from fossil energy sources can worsen GHG emissions compared to petroleum. Electrofuels also can cause indirect emissions, even if produced from renewable electricity. For example, consider an existing solar installation powering a nearby town. If that solar electricity is diverted to new electrofuel production, a new gas electricity generator may be built to meet that town's energy demands. The net impact is that the total use of renewable energy does not increase, but is actually similar to a situation where the electrofuel facility is powered directly by gas. In order to deliver full life-cycle GHG reductions, electrofuels must be powered by *additional* renewable electricity supply. Policies on electrofuels and renewable electricity can drive—or prevent—these indirect effects on electricity generation. Here, we examine the specific case of how electrofuels are incentivized in the RED II.

# EMISSIONS ACCOUNTING IN THE RECAST RENEWABLE ENERGY DIRECTIVE (RED II)

Only electrofuels made from renewable electricity are eligible to count toward the transport target in the RED II. The RED II presents three options for calculating the amount of renewable energy used in electrofuels in Article 25, paragraph 3:

- 1. Assume the average share of renewable electricity in the country of production when importing electricity from the grid.
- 2. Assume 100% renewable share if electrofuels are produced via a direct connection to a new renewable electricity installation that does not import electricity from the grid.
- 3. Assume 100% renewable share when importing electricity from the grid if it can be demonstrated that the electricity is from renewable sources.

In Christensen and Petrenko (2017), we demonstrated that the first option would not likely be economically viable because policy support would only be given to a fraction of electrofuels produced. The second option—direct connection to a renewable electricity installation—is represented by Scenario 1 in the present study. The third option—importing demonstrated renewable electricity from the grid—is represented by our Scenario 2, where GoOs are used to certify that the electricity used is renewable. This option also presumably could include a scenario where an electrofuels facility only imported and used electricity during times when excess renewable electricity would otherwise be curtailed. However, in Christensen and Petrenko (2017), we found that such an arrangement would not be economically viable because the electrofuel facility would have to operate with a very low capacity factor.

All renewable energy that is counted toward the RED II transport target also counts toward the 32% renewable energy target; the transport target is thus nested within the overall renewable energy target. Transport fuels are counted toward the overall renewable energy target on the basis of the energy content in the combusted fuel: "*final consumption of energy from renewable sources in transport*" (European Union, 2018: Article 7, paragraph 1c). For example, the energy content of wheat ethanol, not the energy content of the wheat feedstock, which is larger, counts toward both the transport target and the overall renewable energy target.

Importantly, this may not be true for electrofuels: "Renewable liquid and gaseous transport fuels of non-biological origin that are produced from renewable electricity shall only be considered to be part of the calculation pursuant to paragraph 1(a) when

calculating the quantity of electricity produced in a Member State from renewable energy sources" (RED II, Article 7, paragraph 4a). Paragraph 1(a) is the "gross final consumption of electricity from renewable energy sources." Electrofuels count toward the transport target on the basis of final energy in the fuel, but it appears that Member States may count these fuels toward the overall renewable energy target on the basis of the renewable electricity input. The language is not entirely clear and it is possible to interpret it to mean that the amount of energy in the finished fuel should count toward the overall renewable energy target. If the amount of input electricity is counted, this is similar to counting the energy in raw wheat instead of ethanol toward the overall renewable energy target. Because electrofuels have at best an overall efficiency of around 50%, the amount of energy in the input electricity is around double that in the finished fuel. Figure 6 demonstrates this problem in a schematic. For the same amount of energy delivered as transport fuel, the RED II would count a contribution from electrofuels as double the amount of energy as an equivalent contribution from biofuels toward the overall renewable energy target, as shown on the left side of the figure. The right side of the figure shows the actual amount of renewable energy delivered. Because double the amount of energy delivered in the final electrofuel is counted toward the overall renewable energy target, a lower amount of renewable energy is needed outside the transport sector to meet the target. This results in overall lower renewable energy usage when electrofuels are used in the RED II compared to biofuels.





Advanced biofuels also have a form of double counting in the RED II, but the net effect is different than with electrofuels. Member States may count advanced biofuels at twice their energy content toward the transport energy target, but not the overall renewable energy target. Using more advanced biofuels may thus reduce the total amount of renewable energy used in transport fuel, but does not reduce the total amount of renewable energy used in the EU.

This accounting problem with electrofuels only matters if the 32% renewable energy target is just met and not exceeded. Figure 6 illustrates a situation in which the renewable energy target is just met. This outcome would be avoided if the EU were to significantly exceed the regulatory target for use of renewable energy (i.e., if renewable energy deployment starts to be driven by the market faster than by the regulation, or is driven by national policy that goes beyond the RED II target), in which case presumably the effective double counting of electrofuels to the overall renewable energy target would not be relevant to decisions about installing new capacity.

However, we would still expect electrofuel facilities that import renewable electricity from the grid to impact the renewable share of electricity even if the renewable energy target is exceeded. This case is described by the example provided at the beginning of this section, where electricity from an existing solar installation is diverted from a nearby town to power electrofuels, and is replaced by new fossil gas electricity in that town. In reality, any additional electricity demand in the EU will be replaced by a mix of sources depending on what is most economical in different regions; some of this new electricity will likely be renewable or nuclear (with no net impact on GHG emissions) but some is likely to be fossil, increasing GHG emissions.

## SCENARIOS FOR GHG ASSESSMENT

We create a set of scenarios to describe the net GHG impacts from all the possibilities discussed above. In the assessment of potential electrofuel volumes, we included two scenarios: Scenario 1 represented direct connection to a new renewable electricity installation, and Scenario 2 represented purchasing renewable electricity through a grid connection using GoOs. We subdivide those two scenarios for our GHG assessment to explore how total renewable energy usage—and thus total GHG emission reductions— would change with electrofuels depending on whether the renewable energy target is exceeded. We include a fifth scenario in which Member States count the energy in the finished fuel rather than the input electricity toward the renewable energy target. These scenario subdivisions do not affect the results on economic viability of electrofuels presented above.

*Scenario 1A:* direct connection to renewable electricity installation, renewable energy target just met

*Scenario 1B:* direct connection to renewable electricity installation, renewable energy target exceeded

*Scenario 2A:* importing renewable electricity from grid (using GoOs to demonstrate 100% renewable input), renewable energy target just met

*Scenario 2B:* importing renewable electricity from grid (using GoOs to demonstrate 100% renewable input), renewable energy target exceeded

*Scenario 2C:* importing renewable electricity from grid (using GoOs to demonstrate 100% renewable input), renewable energy target just met, energy content in finished fuel counted toward renewable energy target

In the remainder of this section, we present a life-cycle GHG assessment of electrofuels in each of these five scenarios.

### METHODOLOGY FOR LIFE-CYCLE GREENHOUSE GAS ASSESSMENT

We include both direct emissions (from fuel production and transport) and indirect emissions (from impacts to electricity production for non-transport sectors). We assume 1 gCO<sub>2</sub>e/MJ for direct emissions following Geitmann (2000) and Edwards, Larive, Rickeard and Windorf (2014). The direct emissions are low because the CO<sub>2</sub> emitted from fuel combustion is offset by CO<sub>2</sub> sequestration in fuel production. We also include construction emissions of renewable electricity installations. This is not always included as a term in life-cycle analysis. In fact, construction emissions from fuel production facilities are almost never included because these emissions are much lower than from other sources over the lifetime of fuel production (we do not include fuel production facility emissions here). However, construction emissions from solar and wind installations are larger than those for fuel production facilities: around 3 gCO<sub>2</sub>e/MJ for wind power and around 9 gCO<sub>2</sub>e/MJ for solar power (Edenhofer and Madruga, 2012).

For scenarios 1A and 2A, we include indirect emissions from increased nonrenewable energy use due to the reduction in renewable energy needed outside the transport sector to meet the RED II target if the target is just met. For this part of the analysis, we assume an overall conversion efficiency of 53%, which is in the middle of the range of futuristic conversion efficiencies of the pathways in our volumes assessment. For 100 MJ of renewable electricity used to make electrofuels, 53 MJ is delivered as renewable energy in the final fuel. The remaining 47 MJ is lost upon conversion. If electrofuels counted toward the renewable energy target on the basis of the finished fuel, the lost 47 MJ would need to be supplied in the form of a new additional renewable energy installation. If electrofuels are counted on the basis of the renewable energy input, that amount of additional renewable energy would not be supplied, but additional electricity must still be produced to meet demands outside fuel production. If the renewable energy target is just met, this will be nonrenewable, including both fossil fuels and nuclear. Thus, for every 100 MJ of electrofuels produced, we account for indirect emissions from 47 MJ of additional fossil fuel and nuclear power. We assume the mix of coal, gas, petroleum, and nuclear mirrors the relative share of new capacity of each of these types of generators built in the year 2030 using data in BNEF's projection for Germany, Italy, France, UK, and "Other Europe." We estimated new capacity built following our methodology in Christensen and Petrenko (2017). For these scenarios, we count wind and solar installation construction emissions only for the net increase in generation of these renewables (i.e., 53% of the total amount of electricity used in electrofuel production).

For Scenario 2B, the RED II renewable energy target has no effect at all. Indirect emissions occur from displacing renewable electricity that otherwise would have been used for non-fuel purposes and necessitating increased electricity generation to meet the overall greater demand. In this scenario, we assume that the new electricity installations that would be built reflect the relative share of new capacity of each type of electricity generation in BNEF's projection, as above, but including renewable energy as well as fossil fuels and nuclear. Using this approach, we estimate that approximately 52% of new capacity built in 2030 will be renewable. As for scenarios 1A and 2A, we count wind and solar installation construction emissions only for the net increase in generation of these renewables (i.e., 52% of the total amount of electricity used in electrofuel production). Emission factors for each type of electricity production are listed in Christensen and Petrenko (2017).

For scenarios 2A, 2B, and 2C, we account for another type of indirect emissions. As discussed above in estimating grid balancing costs, variable renewable electricity sources are associated with greater generation forecast errors than baseload power sources. Utilities may increase the use of short-term spinning reserves to be able to meet power demands when variable renewable energy sources generate less electricity than forecast. These spinning reserves generally use natural gas, and keeping them online and ready to ramp up generates a low level of emissions, detracting from the climate savings of using renewable energy sources instead of fossil baseload power. An increase in the amount of grid-connected renewable energy sources driven by an increase in grid-connected electrofuel production would thus be expected to increase use of natural gas spinning reserves. The amount of spinning reserve capacity necessary to keep online to balance renewable electricity variability may be reduced on a gridscale if many variable renewable energy sources are connected to the grid in different geographic locations because generation variations from forecasts at one variable renewable electricity installation tend to offset those at another to some degree (for example, a shortfall in wind power in northern France may be offset by excess wind power generation in southern France). Fripp (2011) assessed the emissions from natural gas spinning reserves to cancel out only 6% of the emissions savings from replacing

fossil baseload power with variable RES when this kind of distributed generation is taken into account and occurs over a large area (500 km radius). This area may be larger than the functional grid area in many locations in the EU at present, given current barriers to cross-Member State electricity interconnections and even sub-national transmission limitations in Germany, for example (Appunn, 2018). But with expected improvements in transmission and interconnections (European Commission, n.d.), it is conceivable that 500 km may be a typical transmission radius in 2030. We thus adopt the estimate of 6% fossil emissions rebound for GHG savings from wind and solar power compared to natural gas. The low magnitude of this term may not be intuitive. In a simplified example, an electrofuel facility purchasing GoOs from a nearby solar facility will operate 24 hours a day, only around eight of those occurring at the same time the solar facility is producing electricity. But because the number of GoOs must match the total amount of renewable electricity claimed at the electrofuel facility, this means that during those eight hours, the solar installation must produce around three times as much electricity as the electrofuel producer uses, and the excess is used by other consumers elsewhere. On net, the same amount of renewable electricity is produced as the amount of electricity used by the electrofuel facility. The 6% represents emissions only from the increased usage of spinning reserves, not from any shortfall in overall renewable electricity supply.

For Scenario 1B, there are no indirect effects on renewable energy usage outside fuel production.

## **RESULTS ON GREENHOUSE GAS IMPACTS**

### Greenhouse gas intensity of electrofuels

Figure 7 presents the direct and indirect emissions and the total life-cycle GHG performance for each scenario in our analysis. Indirect emissions from increased nonrenewable electricity production is by far the largest contributor to overall emissions in this analysis. In Scenarios 1A and 2A, these indirect emissions are so high that the resulting electrofuel offers only very small GHG benefits compared to fossil fuels. In Scenario 2B, we find that electrofuels are slightly more GHG intensive than the fossil fuel comparator.



**Figure 7.** Direct and indirect emissions from electrofuel production in the EU in 2030 in various scenarios and % GHG savings compared the fossil fuel comparator of 94 gCO<sub>2</sub>e/MJ

Only in Scenarios 1B and 2C do electrofuels offer high GHG savings compared to fossil transport fuels. These scenarios do not cause an indirect increase in nonrenewable electricity generation. Importantly, even when electrofuel producers have a direct connection to a new renewable electricity generator, there can be high indirect

emissions from reduced renewable energy consumption elsewhere if the amount of energy input to the electrofuels process is counted toward the RED II renewable energy target and if this target is just met (Scenario 2A). At present it is not possible to know whether the renewable energy target will be exceeded. Therefore, these results indicate that the only way in which high GHG savings from electrofuels can be guaranteed is Scenario 2C: counting only the energy in the final fuel, not the input energy, toward the overall renewable energy target. Below, we discuss potential policy options for achieving this scenario.

### **Overall GHG reduction potential**

The overall potential for GHG reductions from electrofuels depends on both the GHG intensity per MJ fuel and the total potential volumes that could be economically produced. Figure 8 presents the maximum potential GHG reduction from the five scenarios at varying levels of policy support. Above, we found that Scenario 1B achieves the highest GHG reductions per MJ, closely followed by Scenario 2C. However, the total potential GHG reductions from electrofuels in Scenario 2C are much higher than for any other scenario. This is because the economics of grid-connected electrofuel production are more favorable than those of electrofuels produced by direct connection to renewable electricity installations. We project that very little GHG savings could be achieved in Scenarios 1A and 2A because the GHG intensity of these pathways is similar to the fossil fuel comparator. In Scenario 2B, because the GHG intensity of electrofuels is slightly higher than fossil fuels, the total climate impact worsens the more electrofuels are produced in this scenario. In all scenarios, the total GHG impact is highly dependent on the level of policy support because this strongly affects the volumes of electrofuels that can be produced. Figure 8 also shows the share of total 2030 road transport emissions that could be avoided by electrofuels in each scenario. Even with very high policy support of 3 euros per liter, we project that the most favorable scenario could deliver only around 4 million tonnes CO<sub>2</sub>e reduction per year by 2030, equivalent to 0.5% of projected total road transport emissions in the EU reference scenario (European Commission, 2016b). Our analysis strongly suggests that, within the 2030 time frame, electrofuels can deliver only a very small fraction of targeted GHG reductions in the transport sector. Importantly, if Member States count the input energy to electrofuels production toward the RED II renewable energy target, it is likely that virtually no net climate benefit will be achieved.



**Figure 8.** Maximum 2030 GHG reduction potential from electrofuels in the EU by scenario and level of policy support, assuming CO<sub>2</sub> from point sources.

It is important to note that our interpretation of policy support levels may be different in Scenario 2C than the other scenarios. Earlier, we explained that the levels of policy support analyzed here could represent a combination of incentives, for example a renewable electricity feed-in tariff along with a renewable fuel subsidy. However, if electrofuels are counted on the basis of fuel energy rather than electricity input, presumably only the fuel production would receive incentives as part of RED II implementation. As a simple example, a Member State might offer a feed-in tariff to wind and solar generators to incentivize enough renewable electricity generation to meet the 32% renewable energy target. But if the electricity used in electrofuel production is not itself eligible to count toward that 32% target, it would not make sense for the Member State to provide that electricity generator the feed-in tariff. Instead, it would be logical for the Member State to provide support only to the electrofuel producer, since that producer is delivering the energy that will be counted toward the RED II. To reach the highest level of electrofuel potential in this analysis, the Member State would have to deliver the entire 3 euros per liter to the electrofuel producer. This will be particularly impactful for Member States that offer the same incentives for all types of non-food based alternative fuels. It will be harder for electrofuels to compete economically with advanced biofuels if the input renewable electricity is not eligible for electricity feed-in tariffs (Scenario 2C) compared to a scenario where it is.

### Cost of emission reductions from electrofuels

Even in the best-case scenario (Scenario 2C), electrofuels are an expensive GHG mitigation strategy. Three euros per liter translates to 1,213 euros per tonne CO2e abated, given the GHG intensity of electrofuels in Scenario 2C (Figure 7). This is much higher than the cost of GHG reduction generally expected of alternative fuels. For example, California has a cap of \$200 per tonne  $CO_2e$  on credit prices for its Low Carbon Fuel Standard (Wade, 2016).

We also estimate the cost of using electrofuels as a strategy for reducing the overall emissions of passenger vehicles. If electrofuels were eligible to count toward the EU's passenger vehicle  $CO_2$  standards, this strategy would cost 306 euros for each gram  $CO_2$  e reduced per kilometer. This calculation assumes the following: vehicle efficiency

of 0.0363 L/km (what would typically be needed to meet the 95  $gCO_2e/km$  standard for 2021 [Regulation (EU) No 333/2014]); 15 year vehicle lifetime; 117,000 km annual distance driven by each car (Odyssee-Mure, n.d.). The cost of using enough electrofuels over the lifetime of an average car to achieve one gram  $CO_2e$  reduction per kilometer over that entire lifetime is 694 euros.

# POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

This research points to several policy actions the European Commission and Member States could take to ensure that renewable electrofuels deliver high GHG savings and would maximize the total potential climate benefit of this type of fuel. In particular, we put forward several ideas to ensure that the effective double counting of energy in electrofuels toward the RED II renewable energy target does not occur.

Member States might be able to interpret the counting provision in the RED II to mean that for renewable fuels of non-biological origin, the energy content in the transport fuel should count toward the overall renewable energy target. The RED II language is not clear on this point. Alternatively, Member States could simply take measures to increase the amount of renewable energy consumed above the 32% RED II target by approximately the same amount of energy in electrofuels counted toward the RED II.

Another solution would be to include indirect emissions accounting in assessing the life-cycle GHG performance of electrofuels. According to the RED II, the European Commission is tasked with setting a GHG calculation methodology for renewable fuels of non-biological origin. If the Commission included indirect emissions accounting for these fuels, it would likely find that electrofuels would only qualify for the 70% GHG reduction threshold required for renewable fuels of non-biological origin if specific and robust measures were taken to ensure full additionality of renewable electricity used for electrofuel production. For example,Timpe, Seebach, Bracker, and Kasten (2017) introduced the concept of "GOplus" certificates representing renewable electricity that is not counted toward the RED II renewable energy target. Requiring GOplus certificates for electrofuel producers would reduce or eliminate the likelihood of indirectly lowering renewable energy use outside fuel production. To be fully effective, GOplus certificates would be needed even for off-grid electrofuel producers.

Member States may be able to similarly exclude electrofuels without GOplus certificates from RED II accounting and support on the basis of life-cycle GHG performance, as long as they applied similar indirect emissions accounting to other renewable fuels of nonbiological origin.

The Commission or Member States could determine that electrofuels in general do not meet the 70% GHG reduction threshold and thus exclude this category of fuels entirely from counting toward the RED II. However, this option could stymie investment in a technology that has the potential for delivering long-term GHG reductions if using 100% additional renewable electricity.

Lastly, we strongly recommend that electrofuels not be allowed to count toward multiple policy targets, for example counting the same liter of electrofuel in both the RED II and vehicle  $CO_2$  standards. Allowing electrofuels, or any other type of alternative fuel, that is already incentivized by the RED II to count toward vehicle standards would reduce the use of other decarbonization measures, such as electrification and efficiency improvements, without delivering any additional climate benefit. This would effectively reduce the stringency of the EU vehicle  $CO_2$  standards.

# CONCLUSIONS

Electrofuels can be part of the solution for long-term decarbonization of the transport sector, but these alternative fuels are unlikely to deliver much of the EU's climate goals in the 2030 time frame. Our analysis finds that, even with very high policy support of 3 euros per diesel-equivalent liter, electrofuels are unlikely to displace more than 0.4% of petroleum used in road transport fuel by 2030. At lower—and perhaps more realistic—levels of policy support, potential volumes of electrofuels are greatly reduced. Electrofuels should be seen as a potential long-term option for transport decarbonization, but the EU should recognize that other measures are necessary to achieve significant GHG reductions in the 2030 time frame.

The climate impact of electrofuels is heavily dependent on their treatment by policy. Electrofuels only deliver climate benefits if produced from low-carbon renewable electricity such as wind and solar power. Even when produced solely from renewable electricity, electrofuel production can indirectly impact renewable energy usage elsewhere because of the energy accounting methodology in the RED II. If electrofuels count toward the 32% renewable energy target in the RED II on the basis of the renewable electricity input rather than the energy content of the fuel, their production will reduce the total amount of renewable energy consumption necessary to meet the 32% target. We find that in most cases with this interpretation of the RED II, electrofuels will not significantly reduce GHG emissions compared to petroleum.

We recommend that EU policymakers explore options to correct the over-counting of electrofuels toward the 32% renewable energy target. One promising option is to require electrofuel producers to submit GOplus certificates to demonstrate that the renewable electricity used, whether through a grid connection or a direct connection, has not been counted toward the 32% renewable energy target by Member States. Another key recommendation is to not allow electrofuels to count toward vehicle  $CO_2$  standards in the EU. Counting the same fuel toward both policies would effectively reduce the stringency of the vehicle standards without delivering additional climate benefits. If measures are taken to ensure that GHG reductions from electrofuels are additional, these fuels can make a meaningful—if modest—contribution toward the EU's renewable energy and decarbonization goals.

## REFERENCES

- Appunn, K. (2018). Interconnectors & blockages German grid at odds with EU power market [Factsheet]. Retrieved from the Clean Energy Wire website: <u>https://www.</u> <u>cleanenergywire.org/factsheets/interconnectors-blockages-german-grid-odds-eupower-market</u>
- ART Fuels Forum. (2018). Position paper: Post 2020 light vehicle CO<sub>2</sub> regulations initiative. Retrieved from http://artfuelsforum.eu/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/ART-Fuels-Forum\_Passenger-Cars\_Position-paper\_Mar\_2018.pdf
- Audi. (2015). Audi e-gas plant helps stabilize German public power grid. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.audiusa.com/newsroom/news/press-releases/2015/07/audi-e-gas-plant-helps-stabilize-german-public-power-grid">https://www.audiusa.com/newsroom/news/press-releases/2015/07/audi-e-gas-plant-helps-stabilize-german-public-power-grid</a>
- Brynolf, S., Taljegard, M., Grahn, M., & Hansson, J. (2017). Electrofuels for the transport sector: A review of production costs. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 81(2), 1887–1905. doi:10.1016/j.rser.2017.05.288
- Christensen, A., & Petrenko, C. (2017). CO<sub>2</sub>-based synthetic fuel: Assessment of potential European capacity and environmental performance. Retrieved from the International Council on Clean Transportation website, <u>https://www.theicct.org/sites/default/</u> files/publications/CO2-based-synthetic-fuel-EU-assessment\_ICCT-consultantreport\_14112017\_vF\_2.pdf
- de Bucy, J. (2016). *The potential of power-to-gas*. Retrieved from the ENEA Consulting website: http://www.enea-consulting.com/wp-content/uploads/2016/01/ENEA-Consulting-The-potential-of-power-to-gas.pdf
- Edenhofer, O., & Madruga, R. P. (2012). *Renewable energy sources and climate chnge mitigation: Summary for policymakers and technical summary*. Retrieved from the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change website: <a href="https://www.ipcc.ch/pdf/special-reports/srren/SRREN\_FD\_SPM\_final.pdf">https://www.ipcc.ch/pdf/special-reports/srren/SRREN\_FD\_SPM\_final.pdf</a>
- Edwards, R., Larive, J.-F., Rickeard, D., & Windorf, W. (2014). Well-to-wheels report version 4. a: JEC-Joint Research Centre-EUCAR-CONCAWE collaboration. Retrieved from: https://iet.jrc.ec.europa.eu/about-jec/sites/iet.jrc.ec.europa.eu.about-jec/files/ documents/report\_2014/wtt\_report\_v4a.pdf
- European Automobile Manufacturers Association (ACEA). *Post-2021 CO<sub>2</sub> regime for* passenger cars (ACEA Position Paper). Available at: <a href="https://www.acea.be/uploads/">https://www.acea.be/uploads/</a> publications/PC\_CO2\_ACEA.pdf
- European Commission. (2016a). Report from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions: Energy prices and costs in Europe [COM(2016) 769 final]. Brussels: European Commission. Retrieved from http://ec.europa.eu/transparency/ regdoc/rep/1/2016/EN/COM-2016-769-F1-EN-MAIN.PDF
- European Commission. (2016b). EU Energy, Transport, and GHG Emissions Trends to 2050. Brussels: European Commission. Available at: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/energy/sites/ener/files/documents/20160713%20draft\_publication\_REF2016\_v13.pdf</u>
- European Commission. (n.d.) Electricity interconnection targets. Retrieved from <a href="https://en.europa.eu/energy/en/topics/infrastructure/projects-common-interest/electricity-interconnection-targets">https://en.europa.eu/energy/en/topics/infrastructure/projects-common-interest/electricity-interconnection-targets</a>

- European Union. (21 June 2018). Proposal for a Directive of the European Parliament and of the Council on the promotion of the use of energy from renewable sources -Analysis of the final compromise text with a view to agreement. Retrieved from http://www.consilium.europa.eu/register/en/content/out?&typ=ENTRY&i=LD&DOC\_\_\_\_\_ ID=ST-10308-2018-INIT
- Fursenweth, D., Pescia, D., and Litz, P. (2015). The Integration Costs of Wind and Solar Power: An Overview of the Debate on the Effects of Adding Wind and Solar Photovoltaic into Power Systems. Retrieved from: https://www.agora-energiewende. de/fileadmin/Projekte/2014/integrationskosten-wind-pv/Agora\_Integration\_Cost\_ Wind\_PV\_web.pdf
- Fripp, M. (2011). Greenhouse gas emissions from operating reserves used to backup large-scale wind power. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 45(21), 9405-9412. doi:10.1021/es200417b
- Eurostat. (n.d.) Brussels: European Commission. Retrieved from <u>http://ec.europa.eu/</u> eurostat
- Sven, G. (2005). Erneuerbare Energien und alternative Kraftstoffe: mit neuer Energie in die Zukunft. Retrieved from https://www.hydrogeit-verlag.de/produkt/erneuerbareenergien-pdf/
- GfK Belgium consortium. (2017). *Study on "Residential Prosumers in the European Energy Union"* [Prepared for the European Commission under Framework Contract EAHC/2013/CP/04]. Retrieved from <a href="https://ec.europa.eu/commission/sites/beta-political/files/study-residential-prosumers-energy-union\_en.pdf">https://ec.europa.eu/commission/sites/beta-political/files/study-residential-prosumers-energy-union\_en.pdf</a>
- Giglio, E., Lanzini, A., Santarelli, M., & Leone, P. (2015). Synthetic Natural Gas via Integrated High-Temperature Electrolysis and Methanation: Part I—Energy Performance. *Journal of Energy Storage*, 1, 22–37. doi: 10.1016/j.est.2015.04.002
- Götz, M., Lefebvre, J., Mörs, F., Koch, A. M., Graf, F., Bajohr, S., ... Kolb, T. (2016). Renewable power-to-gas: A technological and economic review. *Renewable Energy*, 85, 1371–1390. doi:10.1016/j.renene.2015.07.066
- Grond, L., Schulze, P., & Holstein, J. (2013). Systems analyses power to gas: A technology review. DNV KEMA Energy & Sustainability, Groningen. Retrieved from http://europeanpowertogas.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/nLyJv2uT64.pdf
- Hannula, I. (2015). Co-production of synthetic fuels and district heat from biomass residues, carbon dioxide and electricity: Performance and cost analysis. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, 74, 26–46. doi:10.1016/j.biombioe.2015.01.006
- Holmes, G., & Keith, D. (2012). An Air–Liquid Contactor for Large-Scale Capture of CO2 from Air. *Phil. Trans. R. Soc. A,* 370, 1974, 4380–4403. doi: 10.1098/rsta.2012.0137
- House, K., Baclig, A., Ranjan, M., Nierop, E., Wilcox, J., & Herzog, H. (2011). Economic and Energetic Analysis of Capturing CO2 from Ambient Air. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 108, 51, 20428–20433. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1012253108
- International Energy Agency. (2017). *World Energy Outlook 2017*. Retrieved from https://www.iea.org/weo2017/
- Keith, D.,Ha-Duong, M., & Stolaroff, J. (2006). Climate Strategy with CO<sub>2</sub> Capture from the Air. *Climatic Change*, 74, 1, 17–45. doi: 10.1007/s10584-005-9026-x
- Lackner, K. (2009). Capture of Carbon Dioxide from Ambient Air. *The European Physical Journal-Special Topics*, 176, 1, 93–106. doi: 10.1140/epjst/e2009-01150-3

- McDonagh, S., O'Shea, R., Wall, D. M., Deane, J. P., & Murphy, J. D. (2018). Modelling of a power-to-gas system to predict the levelised cost of energy of an advanced renewable gaseous transport fuel. *Applied Energy*, 215, 444–456. doi:10.1016/j. apenergy.2018.02.019
- Mohseni, F. (2012). *Power to gas: Bridging renewable electricity to the transport sector* (Doctoral thesis). Retrieved from DiVA portal, <u>http://www.diva-portal.org/smash/</u>record.jsf?pid=diva2%3A586467&dswid=-2941
- National Renewable Energy Laboratory. (n.d.). Annual Technology Baseline Data. Retrieved from https://atb.nrel.gov/electricity/data.html
- Natural & bio Gas Vehicle Association. (2017). NGVA Europe on the proposal for a regulation setting CO2 emission performance standards for new heavy-duty vehicles. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.ngva.eu/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/2018-05-18-PR-NGVA-Europe-on-HDVs-CO2-standards.pdf">https://www.ngva.eu/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/2018-05-18-PR-NGVA-Europe-on-HDVs-CO2-standards.pdf</a>
- Nuclear Energy Agency. (2012). *Nuclear energy and renewables*. Retrieved from the OECD website: https://www.oecd-nea.org/ndd/pubs/2012/7056-system-effects.pdf
- Odysee-Mure. (n.d.) Change in distance travelled by car [Online databases]. Retrieved from http://www.odyssee-mure.eu/publications/efficiency-by-sector/transport/distance-travelled-by-car.html
- Pudjianto, D., Djapic, P., Dragovic, J., & Strbac, G. (2013). *Direct costs analysis related to grid impacts of photovoltaics*. Prepared by Imperial College London for the European Commission.
- Ranjan, M. (2010). Feasibility of Air Capture. Retrieved from: <u>https://sequestration.mit.</u> edu/pdf/ManyaRanjan\_Thesis\_June2010.pdf
- Ranjan, M, & Herzog, H. (2011). Feasibility of Air Capture. *Energy Procedia,* 4, 2869–2876. doi: 10.1016/j.egypro.2011.02.193
- Regulation (EU) No 333/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 11 March 2014 amending Regulation (EC) No 443/2009 to define the modalities for reaching the 2020 target to reduce CO 2 emissions from new passenger cars. Retrieved from https://publications.europa.eu/en/publication-detail/-/publication/5b971540-bc8f-11e3-86f9-01aa75ed71a1/language-en
- Schiebahn, S., Grube, T., Robinius, M., Tietze, V., Kumar, B., & Stolten, D. (2015). Power to gas: Technological overview, systems analysis and economic assessment for a case study in Germany. *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*, 40(12), 4285–4294. doi:10.1016/j.ijhydene.2015.01.123
- Schiebahn, S., Grube, T., Robinius, M., Zhao, L., Otto, A., Kumar, B.,... Stolten, D. (2013). Power to gas. In D. Stolten & V. Scherer (Eds.), *Transition to Renewable Energy Systems* (pp. 813–848). doi:10.1002/9783527673872.ch39
- Siegemund, S., Trommler, M., Schmidt, P., and Weindorf, W. (2017). E-Fuels Study: The potential of electricity-based fuels for low-emission transport in the EU. Verband der Automobilindustrie. Retrieved from https://www.vda.de/en/services/ Publications/%C2%ABe-fuels%C2%BB-study---the-potential-of-electricity-based-fuelsfor-low-emission-transport-in-the-eu.html
- Socolow, R., Desmond, M., Aines, R., Blackstock, J., Bolland, O., Kaarsberg, T., & Lewis, N. (2011). Direct Air Capture of CO2 with Chemicals: A Technology Assessment for the APS Panel on Public Affairs. Retrieved from <u>https://www.aps.org/policy/reports/</u> assessments/upload/dac2011.pdf
- Sterner, Michael. 2009. *Bioenergy and renewable power methane in integrated 100% renewable energy systems: Limiting global warming by transforming energy systems.* Kassel, Germany: Kassel University Press GmbH.

- Timpe, C., Seebach, D., Bracker, J., & Kasten, P. (2017). Improving the accounting of renewable electricity in transport within the new EU Renewable Energy Directive. Retrieved from the Oeko-Institut website: <u>https://www.oeko.de/fileadmin/oekodoc/</u> Improving-accounting-of-renewable-electricity-in-transport.pdf
- Tremel, A., Wasserscheid, P., Baldauf, M., & Hammer, T. (2015). Techno-economic analysis for the synthesis of liquid and gaseous fuels based on hydrogen production via electrolysis. *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*, 40(35), 11457–11464. doi:10.1016/j.ijhydene.2015.01.097
- Wade, S. (2016, July). California Low Carbon Fuel Standard cost containment provisions. Presented at the Oregon Clean Fuels Program Workshop. Retrieved from https://www.oregon.gov/deg/Rulemaking%20Docs/arbcont.pdf
- World Bank. (n.d.). Commodity markets [price data]. Retrieved from http://www.worldbank.org/en/research/commodity-markets

## APPENDIX



## **ELECTROFUEL POTENTIAL RESULTS FOR 2040 AND 2050**

**Figure A1:** Total EU electrofuel potential in 2040 in Scenario 1 (direct connection) with point source CO<sub>2</sub> (million liters diesel equivalent).



**Figure A-2:** Total EU electrofuel potential in 2040 in Scenario 1 (direct connection) with DAC  $CO_2$  and a hybrid renewable electricity (million liters diesel equivalent).



**Figure A-3:** Total EU electrofuel potential in 2040 in Scenario 2 (grid-connected) with point source CO<sub>2</sub> (million liters diesel equivalent).



**Figure A-4:** Total EU electrofuel potential in 2040 in Scenario 2 (grid-connected) with DAC CO<sub>2</sub> (million liters diesel equivalent).



**Figure A-5:** Total EU electrofuel potential in 2050 in Scenario 1 (direct connection) with point source CO<sub>2</sub> (million liters diesel equivalent).



**Figure A-6:** Total EU electrofuel potential in 2050 in Scenario 1 (direct connection) with DAC  $CO_2$  and a hybrid renewable electricity (million liters diesel equivalent)



**Figure A-7:** Total EU electrofuel potential in 2050 in Scenario 2 (grid-connected) with point source  $CO_2$  (million liters diesel equivalent)



**Figure A-8:** Total EU electrofuel potential in 2050 in Scenario 2 (grid-connected) with DAC CO<sub>2</sub> (million liters diesel equivalent)

## **RENEWABLE ELECTRICITY PRICES**

Table A. Electricity price projections, broken out by generation costs, grid fees, and taxes for each EU Member State for 2030, 2040, and 2050, in constant 2018 euros per MWh

	Tayos	Generation – solar			Generation – wind			Grid fees			
Country	(constant over time)	2030	2040	2050	2030	2040	2050	2030	2040	2050	
Austria	20.5	57.7	52.6	48.0	91.8	90.0	88.6	19.1	19.5	20.2	
Belgium	22.1	75.2	68.8	62.8	205.4	201.7	198.9	24.5	24.9	25.6	
Bulgaria	11.9	47.5	43.4	39.7	144.5	141.7	139.8	5.9	6.3	7.0	
Cyprus	7.7	62.8	57.7	52.6	137.5	134.8	132.9	23.0	23.3	23.9	
Czech	16.0	71.1	65.1	59.1	184.6	180.9	178.6	16.4	16.6	16.9	
Denmark	25.2	82.6	75.2	68.8	87.2	85.4	84.5	28.4	29.9	31.8	
Estonia	11.3	126.5	115.4	105.2	111.2	108.9	107.5	29.5	29.8	30.6	
Finland	6.1	195.2	177.7	162.0	96.9	95.1	93.7	15.6	15.7	15.9	
France	17.8	57.2	52.2	47.5	116.8	114.5	113.1	18.1	18.4	18.8	
Germany	51.8	85.8	78.0	71.1	109.8	107.5	106.2	25.1	26.0	27.6	
Greece	11.1	41.1	37.8	34.6	120.0	117.7	115.8	10.4	11.1	12.2	
Hungary	13.5	48.5	44.3	40.6	109.8	107.5	106.2	21.2	21.3	21.4	
Ireland	7.5	97.4	88.6	80.8	137.5	134.8	132.9	24.0	24.8	26.8	
Italy	50.0	51.2	46.6	42.5	80.8	79.4	78.5	17.2	17.8	18.6	
Latvia	22.1	122.8	112.2	102.0	157.4	154.2	152.3	34.0	34.0	34.2	
Lithuania	8.9	131.5	120.0	108.9	151.4	148.6	146.3	31.5	31.8	32.5	
Luxembourg	4.1	84.9	77.5	70.6	109.4	107.5	106.2	12.7	12.9	13.1	
Malta	0.0	68.3	62.3	56.8	177.7	174.5	172.2	22.3	22.6	22.8	
Netherlands	12.3	262.6	238.6	216.9	95.1	93.2	92.3	18.3	18.6	19.3	
Poland	4.5	86.8	78.9	72.0	96.5	94.6	93.2	22.8	23.0	23.7	
Portugal	19.3	31.4	28.6	26.3	102.0	100.2	98.8	25.0	25.9	28.0	
Romania	9.4	48.0	43.8	40.2	124.6	122.3	120.9	29.6	30.3	31.8	
Slovakia	27.6	57.7	52.6	48.0	151.8	149.1	147.2	36.8	36.9	37.1	
Slovenia	8.3	76.2	69.7	63.2	89.1	87.7	86.3	15.1	15.2	15.3	
Spain	23.9	38.8	35.5	32.3	98.8	96.9	96.0	16.4	17.2	19.1	
Sweden	0.6	140.8	128.3	116.8	36.0	35.1	34.6	19.4	19.8	20.8	
UK	24.4	87.7	79.8	72.9	133.4	131.1	129.2	33.4	33.9	35.1	